
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Commercial Services 
Cabinet Committee

Members of the Commercial Services Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Suite on Thursday, 12 
September 2019 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to 
be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 6)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private  of those (if any) in Part B in public 

5. Formation of a Local Authority Trading Company (Pages 7 - 20)

Provide an update on the progress that is being made in establishing a 
Local Authority Trading Company for Gravesham Borough Council.

6. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 



7. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

None

Members

Cllr Lenny Rolles (Chair)
Cllr Sarah Gow (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
John Caller
Leslie Pearton
Anthony Pritchard
Tony Rana
Tony Rice
Gurbax Singh
Denise Tiran

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Commercial Services Cabinet Committee

Monday, 8 July 2019 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Lenny Rolles (Chair)
Cllr Sarah Gow (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
John Caller
Anthony Pritchard
Tony Rana
Tony Rice
Gurbax Singh
Denise Tiran

Note:  Cllr Leslie Hills was also in attendance.

Stuart Bobby Director (Corporate Services)
Sarah Parfitt Assistant Director (Corporate Services)
Elizabeth Thornton Service Manager (Property and Regulatory Services)
Michelle Batstone Corporate Change Manager
Carlie Simmonds Committee Services Manager

1. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Leslie Pearton.

2. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

3. Order of Agenda 

The Chair stated the agenda item 5 would be considered before agenda item 4.

4. Local Authority Trading Company (LATCo) Briefing Paper 

The Director (Corporate Services) informed the Committee that given the financial pressures 
that had been placed on Councils in recent years there had been a drive for local authorities 
to consider the way in which they operate and provide their services. This had resulted in 
Councils exploring other options for income generation such as purchasing of commercial 
properties and the formation of trading entities to deliver Council services such as private 
repairs and maintenance, house clearance and vehicle repairs.

There were two key pieces of legislation which allowed for a local authority to trade in the 
services it provides:-

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Commercial Services Cabinet Committee 8.07.2019

2

 The Local Government Act 2003 which allows local authorities to trade in the 
ordinary day to day functions of the Council; and 

 The Localism Act 2011 which allows local authorities to trade in any area (unless 
expressly prohibited or limited by statute). 

A recent report by Grant Thornton in September 2018 stated that it had identified 743 
LATCos in Great Britain and that 59.2% of local authorities owned at least one. These 
figures included commercial property companies which made up 23.2% of all LATCos. 

The Council’s Medium-term Financial Strategy 2016-17 to 2019-20, set out an initial funding 
gap by 2019-20 of £2.9m. Whilst considerable action had been undertaken to date to ‘bridge 
the gap’ in term of identifying savings and new income streams, a further £1.3m of savings 
had been agreed in the autumn of 2018 as a result of further central government austerity 
measures and commercialisation would be a key step to delivering these additional actions 
to close the funding gap.

The Director (Corporate Services) provided Members with a detailed overview on the 
process of forming a LATCo and the Council’s potential approach to the formation of such a 
company. 

Members highlighted the following:-

 Which services would be progressed and would a business case for each of those 
services be submitted to the Committee for consideration. 

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that there were currently three areas 
being explored and that further work needed to be undertaken. The Committee would 
be informed of those areas and the order in which they would be progressed once 
the above work had been completed. 

 If the LATCo was to become successful, would TUPE need to be considered?

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that the creation of a LATCo was in no 
way intended to result in the transference of existing Council functions or the erosion 
of staff terms and conditions.

 The Council will need to adequately protect those Members and Officers that will sit 
as Directors on the LATCo as they will become personally liable i.e. the Council will 
need to indemnify those appointed. 

 Consideration will need to be given to how the Council will manage expectations 
when providing services for both the public and private sector. 

 Could a LATCo offer services that are outside of the Council’s ordinary day to day 
functions.

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that this was possible however there was 
no intention to do so at this moment in time. 

As it was the Council’s intention to establish a LATCo, the Committee was informed that 
approval would need to be obtained from Full Council therefore appendix four to the report 

Page 4



Commercial Services Cabinet Committee 8.07.2019

3

set out an indicative timeline for establishing a trading company by 1 April 2020. Regular 
updates on progress would be provided to the Committee over the course of the year.

5. Property Acquisitions Briefing Paper 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) informed the Committee that Full Council had 
adopted a Property Acquisition Strategy in February 2016. At the time of approving the 
Strategy, £10m of the Council’s investment balances were made available for the purchase 
of properties for investment purposes. Since that time, total funding of £26.2m had been 
made available to implement the Property Acquisition Strategy due to the strengthening of 
the Council’s cashflow balances, meaning that these balances had not reduced as quickly as 
expected. A balance of £3.29m currently remained.

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that the strategy set out the following 
criteria for selecting investment assets:- 

 the investment provides a regular income with the net initial yield exceeding a 
minimum level of 3% above the prevailing 25 year Public Works Loans Board 
(PWLB) fixed maturity rate, after taking into account all costs associated with the 
acquisition;

 purchases are to be from the retail, industrial, office and any other conventional 
business sectors; and

 acquisitions are not limited to being within the Borough of Gravesham.

Interests in the following properties had been acquired to date:- 

 Network House, Gillingham; 
 Springhead Units A4, A5 and C1-6, Gravesend;
 St Johns House, Dartford; 
 123-127 High Street, Sittingbourne; 
 Site at Stuart Road, Gravesend;
 35-36 New Road, Gravesend; and
 Springhead Units A1-A3 and B1-B4, Gravesend. 

In 2019/20 the above properties have been budgeted to generate rental income of some 
£1.5m. Had the same levels of investment been placed in Banks, Building Societies and 
Money Market Funds, it had been estimated that this would have only generated returns of 
around £150,000. 

As at 31 March 2019, the value of investment property assets held on the Council’s balance 
sheet had increased to £38.69m. 

In recognition of the increased reliance on this type of income to support the General Fund 
budget, the Council had now established an earmarked reserve – the Income Protection 
Reserve. This reserve had been set at a level equivalent to 15% of the budgeted rental 
income reflected in each year of the Medium Term Financial Plan and will be directed to 
meet any maintenance and upkeep requirements of properties purchased under the Strategy 
or to smooth the impact on the General Fund budget of any unplanned void periods. 

The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) advised that further details on each of the seven 
properties acquired would be shared with the Committee outside of the meeting. 

Page 5



Commercial Services Cabinet Committee 8.07.2019

4

The Committee was informed that both Financial and Property Services were currently 
finalising a ‘property dashboard’ which would be periodically shared with the Committee to 
provide an overview of the Council’s total commercial property portfolio and detailing any 
risks to the performance of the portfolio. Members were invited to submit any further 
information which they would like to see included within the ‘property dashboard’. 

The Committee thanked officers for the detailed reports. 

Close of Meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.23pm

Page 6



1

Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Commercial Services Cabinet Committee

Date: 12 September 2019

Reporting officer: Michelle Batstone, Corporate Change Manager

Subject: Formation of a Local Authority Trading Company (LATCo) – 
UPDATE

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members of the Commercial Services Cabinet Committee with an update on the 
progress that is being made in establishing a Local Authority Trading Company for 
Gravesham Borough Council.

Recommendations:
None – this paper is for information purposes only.

1. Background

1.1 At the first meeting of Commercial Services Cabinet Committee of 08 July 2019, 
Members were provided with a briefing paper to set out some general information 
regarding the formation of a Local Authority Trading Company (LATCo), along 
with an indicative timeline for the formation of a LATCo for Gravesham Borough 
Council.

1.2 Since this date, work has been progressing to move this project forwards, and the 
purpose of this report is to provide an update to Members on the progress to date.

2. Formation of the LATCo

2.1 An internal Corporate Working Group has been established with officers from key 
disciplines; Finance, IT, Legal Services and Internal Audit.  This group has met 
three times and meetings have been scheduled on a fortnightly basis to ensure 
the project continues to progress.  A detailed project plan for the formation of the 
LATCo itself has also been developed and, whilst this will be a working document, 
the latest version is attached at appendix two for Members perusal.

Page 7 Agenda Item 5



2

2.2 At the last Commercial Services Cabinet Committee meeting, Members were 
advised that a discussion would be taking place at a Management Team level in 
order to ascertain the specific service area for a which a company would be 
formed; three areas were identified:

 Private Sector Housing Rental

 Vehicle Workshop Services

 Repairs and Maintenance Services
Following discussions at Management Team it was agreed that the Vehicle 
Workshop Services would be the first service to be delivered by the LATCo.  It 
should be noted however, that the roll-out of Vehicle Workshop services through 
the LATCo would be staggered i.e. only one aspect of the service would initially 
be offered from the LATCo from 1 April 2020, with additional services becoming 
available as the company progressed.

2.3 Specifically, progress in relation to the Vehicle Workshop aspect to date has been 
as follows:
2.3.1 Business Case Development

- A template for the business case has been drawn up and shared with the 
  internal officer Working Group.  Work has commenced in terms of 
  drafting the background information to support the business case, whilst 
  further detailed analysis takes place.

2.3.2 Operational Services Impact
The Waste & Transport Manager has commenced planning from an 
operational point of view in terms of the services that are to be delivered 
from the vehicle workshop, and this will form a secondary section of the 
project plan.  He will also be attending future meetings of the Corporate 
Working Group.

2.3.3 Governance
- Training for Board Members, both officers and Members, is in the 
  process of being sourced.  The LGA have been approached in order to 
  ascertain if the training they provide is suitable for GBC officers and 
  Members.  In addition, the council’s external legal advisors have been 
  approached to identify if they are able to provide any specific 
  briefings/training, as well as the council’s external auditors.
- External Audit – a meeting is in the process of being scheduled with 
  Grant Thornton in order to discuss the council’s approach to establishing 
  the LATCo in order to ensure that audit considerations/implications are 
  clear from an early stage.
- Job descriptions for the generic Board Members and Company 
  Secretary roles are in the process of being drafted.  Very early drafts of 
  the job descriptions are attached at appendix three for Member’s perusal; 
  These are working drafts and are in the process of being developed 
  further with the council’s Legal Team to ensure that all aspects of the 
  Board responsibilities are clearly defined. The job descriptions will refined 
  further ahead of the submission of the business case to the Committee in 
  November 2019.

Page 8



3

- A suggested structure for the Board of Directors for the LATCo has been 
  discussed, which has drawn out a very early, indicative proposal for the 
  Board structure.  This will formally be something that forms part of the 
  business case and will be approved by Cabinet and Full Council, but 
  current thinking at this stage is as follows:

The structure will involve both officers and Members of the council, with 
three Councillors and two officers with decision-making powers.  The 
councillors selected will be representative of the political balance of the 
Council and the officers selected will be chosen based upon the skills 
required for the given roles on the Board.
In addition, it is suggested that the voting rights for the company will be 
limited to the Chairman and four Board Members.  The subsidiary 
company Board Members will have no voting rights at this stage, although 
this may be something to be reviewed in the future. As such, it has been 
suggested that the Articles of Association for the company will be drafted 
with sufficient flexibility to enable the company to respond to changes in 
Board membership, whilst not jeopardising the legal standing of the 
company itself.
At this stage, it is not considered necessary to have Non-Executive 
Directors as part of the Board.  Initially, the company will have a very 
defined use i.e. specifically in relation to the vehicle workshop service and 
as such, it is not felt that an independent, Non-Executive Director is 
required.  However, this is something that will be kept under consideration 
as the company expands into the provision of other services.

2.4 There is still a significant amount of work to be undertaken in order to prepare the 
business case for consideration by Members and work is progressing at pace.

Page 9



4

3. Next Steps

3.1 At the next meeting of the Commercial Services Cabinet Committee on 04 
November 2019, the draft business case proposal will be presented to the 
Committee for their review.  Following this, the business case will be presented to 
Cabinet on 11 November, requesting their approval to submit this to Full Council 
on 3 December for formal consideration. In addition, an update report will be also 
be provided to the Operational Services Committee on 18 November 2019, as the 
Committee responsible for overseeing the vehicle workshop function.

4. Background Papers

4.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

 Report to the Commercial Cabinet Committee – 08 July 2019 – “Local 
Authority Trading Company (LATCo) Briefing Paper”

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 10



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are two key pieces of legislation which allow a local authority to trade in the 
services it provides:
- The Local Government Act 2003 which allows local authorities to trade in the 

ordinary day to day functions of the council. 
- The Localism Act 2011 which allows local authorities to trade in any area 

(unless expressly prohibited or limited by statute).
Should the council wish to trade in council services such as private repairs and 
maintenance, house clearance and vehicle repairs then a local authority trading 
company would have to be set up to enable this.  
In order to ensure that the legal aspects of the business case and formalisation of 
the company are fully considered, members of the Legal Shared Service are part of 
the internal Corporate Working Group.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The council’s Medium-term Financial Strategy 2016-17 to 2019-20, sets out a 
funding gap by 2019-20 of £2.9m.  Whilst considerable action has been taken to 
‘bridge the gap’ in term of identifying savings and new income stream, there is a 
need to identify a further £1m of savings and commercialisation is a key step to 
closing this additional funding gap.
In order to ensure that the financial aspects of the business case are fully 
considered, members of the Finance Team are part of the internal Corporate 
Working Group.

Risk Assessment Establishing a wholly-owned trading company on behalf of the council does come 
with risk and if/when this option is progressed, a fully detailed business case will be 
prepared (in line with the Localism Act 2011) to fully detail, analyse and identify 
actions to mitigate such risks.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
Yes.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
A Data Protection Impact Assessment will be completed in due course and 
accompany the business case through the committee process

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Page 11

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


6

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No – however, an equalities impact assessment will be completed in due course 
and accompany the business case through the committee process 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The information set out within this report contributes to the following Corporate Plan 
Objectives:
- Strategic Objective 1 – Safer Gravesham:

- Pursue commercial opportunities for our Direct Services Organisation to 
  improve our environment and generate income for vital services.

- Strategic Objective 4 – Sound and Self-sufficient Council:
- Commit relevant resources to implement a culture of innovation and 
  commercial awareness, generating vital income for future services.
- Deliver on opportunities for the sharing and selling of council services.
- Continuously review and adapt how we deliver our services to achieve 
  financial efficiencies and improved performance.

Crime and Disorder There are no specific crime and disorder implications resulting from this report.

Digital and website 
implications

At this stage, there are no specific digital or website implications.  As highlighted in 
the project plan, there will be a requirement for input from the Digital Team which 
will be considered at the appropriate time.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no specific safeguarding children and vulnerable adult’s implications 
resulting from this report.

Page 12



$hvrign5i.xls Page 1 of 4

Formation of the Local Authority Trading Company (LATCo) Date of latest updates: 04 September 2019
- Vehicle Workshop Function

Task Name Responsible Start Date End Date
Green - in timescale

Amber - approaching deadline
Red - behind timescale

August 2019 September 2019 October 2019 November 2019 December 2019 January 2020 February 2020 March 2020 April 2020 May 2020

W/c 5 12 19 26 2 9 16 23 30 7 14 21 28 4 11 18 25 2 9 16 23 30 6 13 20 27 3 10 17 24 2 9 16 23 30 6 13 20 27 4 11 18 25

GO LIVE DATE FOR LATCO 01/04/2020

MEETINGS - PROJECT GROUP, COMMITTEES (AS REQUIRED) ETC.

Project Group Meetings Michelle Batstone 05/08/2019 29/05/2020 -

Management Team Michelle Batstone 11/10/2019 19/05/2020 -

Commercial Cabinet Committee Michelle Batstone 26/08/2019 01/04/2020 -
Update
report

Proposal
Report

Update
report

Update
report

Operational Services Cabinet Committee Michelle Batstone 01/11/2019 16/03/2020 -
Update
report

Update
report

Cabinet Michelle Batstone 24/10/2019 11/11/2019 - Proposal Report

Full Council Michelle Batstone 22/11/2019 03/12/2019 -
Proposal
Report

PREPARING THE BUSINESS CASE

Template to be set up for the business case for the
company proposal

Michelle Batstone 29/07/2019 02/08/2019 COMPLETE

Draft the Strategic Case for the council to establish
the company, including details of the strategic need.

Michelle Batstone
(LEAD - project group
input required)

19/08/2019 30/08/2019

Development of the commercial case for the
company - risks mechanisms for charging. Scope of
service etc.

Michelle Batstone
(LEAD - project group
input required)

26/08/2019 06/09/2019

Development of the management case - project, risk
and change management, benefit realisation etc.

Michelle Batstone
(LEAD - project group
input required)

02/09/2019 13/09/2019

Development of the economic case - procurement
options, final options appraisals (as required

Michelle Batstone
(LEAD - project group
input required)

09/09/2019 20/09/2019

Development of the financial case - set out capital
requirements, funding and impact on income and
expenditure

Michelle Batstone
(LEAD - project group
input required)

16/09/2019 27/09/2019

Full business case to be collated and circulated to
the Project for final comments

Michelle Batstone 30/09/2019 09/10/2019

Finalise the business case for presentation to
Management Team

Michelle Batstone - 10/10/2019

CHOOSING THE RIGHT MODEL - LEGAL REQUIREMENTS

Legal Services to advise on the powers that the LA
has to set up the company to deliver the proposed
service.

Faith Rivers 02/09/2019 12/09/2019

Legal Services to advise if there are any express
limits or restrictions on the vehicle workshop
function.

Faith Rivers 02/09/2019 12/09/2019

Legal Services to advise if any procurement
exemptions may apply.

Faith Rivers 02/09/2019 12/09/2019

Legal Services to draft/develop Corporate Risk
register entry

Faith Rivers 02/09/2019 12/09/2019

P
age 13



$hvrign5i.xls Page 2 of 4

Legal Services to provide preliminary advice
(including State Aid) regarding the trading vehicle.

Faith Rivers 02/09/2019 12/09/2019

Legal Services to advise on the appropriate suite of
legal/contract documents required

Faith Rivers 02/09/2019 12/09/2019

Company Registration - confirm requirements of the
registration of a new company

Faith Rivers 02/09/2019 12/09/2019

CONSIDERATION OF GOVERNANCE REQUIREMENTS

Identify if any additional, external support is
required to assist in establishing the company
structure.

Michelle Batstone and
Faith Rivers

- 22/08/2019

Ensure job descriptions are developed for each role
within the company.

Michelle Batstone 19/08/2019 30/09/2019

Prepare an organisation structure for the LATCo,
seeking advice from Legal Services (including
requirement for Company Secretary).

Michelle Batstone and
Faith Rivers

22/09/2019 30/09/2019

Identify training requirements for the Board
Members and source appropriate training.

Michelle Batstone 19/08/2019 25/01/2020

Consideration of equalities implications - Equality
Impact Assessment

Michelle Batstone 02/10/2019 10/10/2019 COMPLETE

Consideration of GDPR implications - Data
Protection Impact Assessment

Michelle Batstone and
Gayle Jones

02/10/2019 10/10/2019

Undertake a skills analysis in order to identify
appropriate nominations for the Company Board
positions. 

Michelle Batstone
(Lead Officer)

04/11/2019 06/12/2019

Agree and document a procedure for making
appointments to the Board, including appointment
to the Chair.

Legal Team 09/12/2019 31/01/2020

Develop a template to be used to enable all
Company officers to declare any conflicts of interest
they may have.

Legal Team 09/12/2019 03/01/2020

Develop terms of reference for the Board, seeking
advice from Legal Services to ensure robustness and
cover all required elements.

Legal Team 06/01/2020 13/03/2020

Determine frequency, for Board Meeting including
frequency for reporting on KPIS,
Complaints/Compliments etc.

Legal Team 06/01/2020 13/03/2020

Ensure there is an clear approach to the transferring
services to the company (at the appropriate time)

Legal Team 06/01/2020 13/03/2020

Ensure there is a clear 'Exit Strategy' should there be
a need to terminate the company and its links with
the council.

Legal Team 06/01/2020 13/03/2020

Establish agreements for the council to provide key
support services to the council (Legal, Property, HR,
IT etc.) (SLAs)

Faith Rivers 06/01/2020 13/03/2020

Ensure completion of the declarations of interest by
all proposed company officers.

Michelle Batstone
(Lead Officer)

06/01/2020 21/02/2020

Audit review - build into annual risk-based approach
for internal audit review

James Larkin 01/02/2020 31/03/2020

Agreed format and frequency of monitoring reports
for the Company (dashboard)

Michelle Batstone and
Board Members

03/02/2020 30/03/2020

Task Name Responsible Start Date End Date
Green - in timescale

Amber - approaching deadline
Red - behind timescale

August 2019 September 2019 October 2019 November 2019 December 2019 January 2020 February 2020 March 2020 April 2020 May 2020

W/c 5 12 19 26 2 9 16 23 30 7 14 21 28 4 11 18 25 2 9 16 23 30 6 13 20 27 3 10 17 24 2 9 16 23 30 6 13 20 27 4 11 18 25

P
age 14



$hvrign5i.xls Page 3 of 4

Complete due diligence on nominees for the
respective roles within the company, including skills
analysis.

Legal Team 03/02/2020 21/02/2020

Undertake a review of the declaration of interest
alongside the Legal Team.

Michelle Batstone
(Lead Officer)

24/02/2020 06/03/2020

If required ensure non-disclosure agreements are
completed and signed.

Legal Team 02/03/2020 20/03/2020

Consideration of succession planning for the Board
Members and council officers as required.

Michelle Batstone
(Lead Officer)

09/03/2020 03/04/2020

Establish procedure for the council to invoice the
company for payment of support services.

Sarah Parfitt 01/03/2020 31/03/2020

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

Consideration to be given to the personnel resource
to be provided to the Company in terms of financial
monitoring.

Sarah Parfitt 01/11/2019 31/03/2020

Consideration to be given to how the council will
record company income/ expenditure separately.

Sarah Parfitt 01/11/2019 31/03/2020

Consideration to be given to how the GBC financial
systems could be used to manage company
finances.

Sarah Parfitt 01/11/2019 31/03/2020

Seek specialist advice in terms of taxation and VAT
implications for the company including registration
requirements.

Sarah Parfitt 01/11/2019 31/03/2020

Consideration of the budget setting process for the
company and impact on council processes.

Sarah Parfitt 01/11/2019 31/03/2020

Consideration of current GBC accounting system to
assess if this is suitable for the company accounting
process.

Sarah Parfitt 01/11/2019 31/03/2020

Review of existing contracts (banking, insurance
etc.) to ascertain if services will be covered by
current contracts.

Sarah Parfitt 01/11/2019 31/03/2020

Consideration of Insurance requirements for the
company entity.

Sarah Parfitt 01/11/2019 31/03/2020

Establishment of separate bank account for the
company entity and interfaces with council Income
systems.

Sarah Parfitt 01/11/2019 31/03/2020

Consideration of the approach to invoicing/debt
recovery for the company, including GBC system
access.

Sarah Parfitt 01/11/2019 31/03/2020

Confirmation of required financial returns to
Companies House and timeframes for these.

Sarah Parfitt During 2020-21

Liaison with External Auditors regarding
requirements for the audit of accounts for the
company

Sarah Parfitt During 2020-21

Consideration of how any surplus generated by the
company will be accounted for.

Sarah Parfitt During 2020-21

Consideration of impact on GBC Statement of
Accounts (format, consolidation issues, asset
accounting etc.)

Sarah Parfitt
To b considered for the 2021

Statement of Accounts

Task Name Responsible Start Date End Date
Green - in timescale

Amber - approaching deadline
Red - behind timescale

August 2019 September 2019 October 2019 November 2019 December 2019 January 2020 February 2020 March 2020 April 2020 May 2020

W/c 5 12 19 26 2 9 16 23 30 7 14 21 28 4 11 18 25 2 9 16 23 30 6 13 20 27 3 10 17 24 2 9 16 23 30 6 13 20 27 4 11 18 25

P
age 15



$hvrign5i.xls Page 4 of 4

COMMUNICATIONS, IT & DIGITAL CONSIDERATIONS

Updates to be provided to council staff on the
progress of the LATCo (Joint Staff Forum)

Michelle Batstone 30/08/2019 09/04/2020

Company name to be selected and branding to be
considered

Communications
Manager

09/09/2019 30/10/2019

Consideration of company specific e-mail addresses. Darren Everden 23/09/2019 11/10/2019

Scope telephony requirements Darren Everden 23/09/2019 11/10/2019

Consider hosting options for any business systems
required to support Latco functions (cloud first)

Darren Everden 23/09/2019 11/10/2019

Provide relevant IT and Data Protection policies to
support LATCo business

Darren Everden 06/01/2020 03/01/2020

Agree IT Support arrangements (Helpdesk) and SLA's Darren Everden 06/01/2020 03/01/2020

Company Website - costings for development of the
company website to be identified.

Digital Team 01/01/2020 31/03/2020

Drafts for the company website to be developed for
presentation to Members/officers for consideration.

Digital Team 01/01/2020 31/03/2020

Provision of Office 365 licences Darren Everden 03/02/2020 27/03/2020

Provision of IT devices where required (e.g..
desktops, laptops, tablets, smartphones)

Darren Everden 03/02/2020 27/03/2020

Establish backup and business continuity plans Darren Everden 03/02/2020 27/03/2020

VEHICLE WORKSHOP SPECIFIC ACTIONS

Commence engagement with Vehicle Workshop
Service to identify practical issues associated with
the service.

Michelle Batstone 29/07/2019 06/09/2019

Develop Vehicle Workshop Specific Action plan (for
actions related diorectly to this function).

Michelle Batstone and
Ronnie Helen

02/09/2019 30/09/2019

Task Name Responsible Start Date End Date
Green - in timescale

Amber - approaching deadline
Red - behind timescale

August 2019 September 2019 October 2019 November 2019 December 2019 January 2020 February 2020 March 2020 April 2020 May 2020

W/c 5 12 19 26 2 9 16 23 30 7 14 21 28 4 11 18 25 2 9 16 23 30 6 13 20 27 3 10 17 24 2 9 16 23 30 6 13 20 27 4 11 18 25

P
age 16



Gravesham Local Authority Trading Company

Board Member Job Description - DRAFT

Expectations of the Board as a Whole

As the highest leadership body for the Local Authority Trading Company (LATCo), 
the board is responsible for:

 determining the mission and purposes of the LATCo and keeping this under 
review

 strategic and organisational planning

 ensuring strong fiduciary oversight and financial management

 responsibility for declaring company dividends

 fundraising and resource development

 monitoring the LATCo’s services and performance

 enhancing the LATCo’s public image

 take responsibility for the health and safety of employees and manage matters 
related to insurance and property.

 enter into contractual agreements with suppliers and customers as required

Expectations of Individual Board Members

Each individual Board Member is expected to

 know the LATCo’s mission, policies, programs, and needs

 read and understand the LATCo’s financial statements

 serve as active advocates and ambassadors for the LATCo and fully engage in 
identifying and securing the financial resources and partnerships necessary for 
the LATCo to advance its mission

 prepare for, attend, and conscientiously participate in board meetings

 participate fully in one or more committees

 ensure all decisions are made with regards to the best interest of the company 
and operate in independence from the council.

NOTE: The job descriptions detailed in this appendix are an early, indicative draft of the subject 
areas to be considered.  Further work to develop these to ensure that legal requirements are 
explicit and the roles of Board Members are clear is currently underway.

Appendix ThreePage 17





Gravesham Local Authority Trading Company

Chairperson Job Description - DRAFT

Expectations of the Chairperson of the Local Authority Trading Company 
(LATCo) Overall

 Leading the committee and the LATCo to enable it to fulfil its purpose.

 To ensure an effective relationship between: 

o the committee and the staff/volunteers

o the committee and the external stakeholders/community

 Acting as a spokesperson and figurehead as appropriate.

Expectations of the Chairperson Specifically

 Chair committee meetings ensuring: 

o A balance is struck between time-keeping and space for discussions.

o Business is dealt with and decisions made.

o Decisions, actions and deliberations are adequately minuted.

o The implementation of decisions is clearly assigned and monitored.

 Ensure adequate support and supervision arrangements are made for the head 
of staff and any other staff/volunteers directly managed or reporting to the 
committee.

NOTE: The job descriptions detailed in this appendix are an early, indicative draft of the subject 
areas to be considered.  Further work to develop these to ensure that legal requirements are 
explicit and the roles of Board Members are clear is currently underway.

Page 18





Gravesham Local Authority Trading Company

Company Secretary Job Description - DRAFT

Expectations of the Company Secretary of the Local Authority Trading 
Company (LATCo) 

 report to the chairman and liaise with board members as required

 prepare agendas and papers for board meetings, committees and follow up on 
action points

 take minutes, draft resolutions, and lodge required forms and annual returns with 
Companies House, the UK's registrar of companies

 ensure policies are kept up to date and approved by the Board as required

 deal with correspondence, collate information and write reports, communicate 
decisions to relevant company stakeholders

 contribute to meeting discussions, and when required advise members of the 
legal, governance, accounting and tax departments of the implications of 
proposed policies

 monitor changes in relevant legislation and the regulatory environment and take 
appropriate action

 liaise with external regulators and advisers, such as lawyers and auditors

 develop and oversee the systems that ensure the company complies with all 
applicable codes, in addition to its legal and statutory requirements

NOTE: The job descriptions detailed in this appendix are an early, indicative draft of the subject 
areas to be considered.  Further work to develop these to ensure that legal requirements are 
explicit and the roles of Board Members are clear is currently underway.

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Formation of a Local Authority Trading Company
	Appendix Two - LATCo DRAFT Project Plan
	Appendix Three - LATCo DRAFT Job Descriptions


